

COUNCIL MEETING

18 October 2021

7.00 pm

Watford Colosseum, Watford

Contact

Sandra Hancock democraticservices@watford.gov.uk 01923 278377

For information about attending meetings please visit the council's website.

Publication date: 8 October 2021

Councillor

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council of the Borough of Watford to be held on Monday, 18 October 2021 starting at 7.00 pm at the Watford Colosseum, Watford to take into consideration and determine upon the following subjects, namely: -

1. Freeman of the Borough Ceremony - Luther Blissett DL

To formally confer the Freedom of the Borough on Luther Blissett DL.

- 2. Apologies for Absence
- 3. Disclosure of Interests
- 4. Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 19 July 2021 to be submitted and signed.

- 5. Official Announcements
- **6. Mayor's Report** (Pages 4 7)
- 7. Questions by Members of the Council under Council Procedure Rule 10.0
- 8. Questions by Members of the Public under Council Procedure Rule 11.0
- 9. Petitions presented under Council Procedure Rule 12.0
- 10. Business especially brought forward by the Chairman or the Head of Paid Service which in the opinion of the Chairman should be considered as a matter of urgency.
- 11. Sustainable vehicle options for Street Cleansing and Parks (Pages 8 16)

Report of the Contract Manager (Parks and Streetcare)

12. Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022- 2025 (Pages 17 - 68)

Report of the Licensing Committee

13. Motions submitted under Council Procedure Rule 13.0

The following motion has been proposed by Councillor Turmaine and seconded by Councillor Trebar –

STOP FIRE AND RE-HIRE

This council notes:

UK companies are using the COVID-19 pandemic to change working practices and embark upon a concerted attack on employee pay and benefits with nearly one in ten workers being told to re-apply for their jobs on worse terms and conditions than before.

Across Britain, thousands of workers are facing a "levelling down" of pay, overtime, holiday benefits and working conditions as a result of "Fire and Re-hire" tactics. These tactics are being deployed by companies in Watford and across the country, in stark contrast to the government's stated promises and priorities.

Workers are being given an ultimatum to either accept reduced pay and benefits or face the sack. This cannot be right. It is neither morally defensible, nor synchronised with creating a high wage, highly skilled economy.

Sir Kier Starmer, the Labour Party, the TUC and others have united in condemning this disgraceful attack on workers' rights and day to day behaviour.

This council resolves to:

Write to Watford's MP and request them to support the banning of fire and re-hire practices.

Write to the prime minister and urge him to bring forward legislation that prohibits fire and re-hire as is synonymous with his "levelling up" agenda.

Refuse to enter into contracts doing business with companies using these tactics, in so far as this is legally possible, utilising and updating all necessary policies to achieve this.

Donna Nolan, Managing Director

Elected Mayor's Report - October 2021

Covid-19 Response

Community protection and support

The vaccination effort is continuing throughout the borough, with booster jabs now being rolled out to those who are eligible and thousands have been vaccinated at our very own Town Hall vaccination centre. The end of August saw another successful Super Sunday vaccination event in partnership with the NHS and Watford Football Club. I would like to thank everyone who helped make this day a success and get even more people vaccinated in Watford. I would also like to thank our sustainable transport partners ArrivaClick and Beryl Bikes for continuing to support travel to and from vaccination centres in the borough.

Community engagement

I have continued to deliver 'Unsung Hero' Awards to people who have supported Watford over the last 18 months. This has been a great way to honour the people who have kept our local communities going through such a difficult period and I would like to once again say thank you to all our award recipients and everyone else in the town who has gone above and beyond to keep Watford going. Looking forward, we will be further recognising our community heroes with the Audentior Awards which will be making a return in Spring 2022. Councillors are encouraged to make nominations for these awards and all the details of the categories can be found at www.audentiorawards.co.uk.

I have continued to engage with local residents online and in person as the circumstances have allowed. Recently I hosted a Facebook Live with Chief Inspector Ian Grout to answer residents' questions about policing in Watford which provided a great discussion on topical issues. I have also met with lots of local people to discuss queries and concerns they have about things going on in Watford.

I have also been fortunate over the last few months to visit lots of fantastic community groups and organisations based in Watford including The Bobath Centre, Guideposts, London Girls Development Academy of Football, Goods for Good, The Peace Hospice and many more. Seeing the work that these organisations do first hand is always eye opening and a great way to see how caring and generous the people of Watford are. Thank you to everyone who continues to support our town for everything you do.

Delivering my manifesto and working for the town

Sustainability in Watford

We recently launched our draft 'Transforming Travel in Watford: The Strategy for 2021-2041' and opened it up to public consultation. The strategy looks at how we can make it easier and greener for people to travel around Watford and is a key element of our plan to make Watford net zero carbon by 2030. Proposals have largely been well received and we have received over 1000 responses from people all across Watford. Results from the survey will be used to direct how we take this strategy forward.

Protecting our local environment

In September, Watford Council teamed up with Three Rivers District Council and Friends of the Earth Watford and Three Rivers to take part in the UK's first 'Great Big Green Week'. The week-long celebration featured events including nature walks, litter picks, movie nights and food demonstrations with an aim to draw attention to the climate and biodiversity crisis. The hope is that this will become an annual event which both educates and allows people to enjoy the best that our natural environment has to offer.

In September, the council and Veolia rolled out a collection of new 'BigBelly' bins in Cassiobury Park. The new bins are capable of compacting 960 litres of litter meaning they can stomach more waste than a standard bin, and have smart sensors to alert parks staff when they are nearing capacity. I'm delighted to see these new additions to Cassiobury Park, making it easier for people to look after and enjoy our local environment. The new bins have been made possible by the WRAP Binfrastructure Grant which awarded the council £25,000 to purchase the new bins. I would like to extend a thank you to the officers who have worked tirelessly on developing our waste strategy and Veolia for their continued hard work to keep our town clean and tidy.

The Cabinet has recently approved plans to restore the local River Colne. The 'Rediscovering the River Colne' project, which has been jointly developed in partnership with environmental organisation Groundwork, will now move into its first phase of delivery between 2021 and 2024. The river will undergo an extensive range of improvements with a view to attract back the original biodiversity of the river and its habitats, including plants, fish, birds, insects and other vital species. A big focus of the project is about engaging local people to help revitalise the area, including opportunities for water monitoring, population counts and more. Throughout the project the council will focus on education around the climate and biodiversity offering outdoor wild-play sessions, riverfly monitoring and wellbeing sessions.

Thriving local economy

Since the start of the year, unemployment figures in Watford have continued to fall so that there are now over 1000 fewer people having to rely on financial support to stay afloat. The

council has continued to work really hard over the last few months to support local businesses through various grants and advice services. Working with partners including the Hertfordshire Growth Hub, W3RT and the Chamber of Commerce, we have been able to ensure that local people have all they need to grow their businesses as we enter the 'new normal'. I would like to thank all of our partners and council officers who have worked really hard over the last 18 months to ensure we are continuing to provide the best support to Watford's businesses.

Alongside supporting existing businesses, we have also seen a number of new businesses join the Watford family and I have had the pleasure of visiting some including Escape Hunt, Refillabell and Heavenly Desserts, to name a few. The Council also recently hosted the first 'Market Lates' event which saw over 600 visitors attend the Market after hours. The event was a great opportunity for people to discover some of the market's popular traders, whilst enjoying a night out with friends and family. The evening was a huge success with thanks to our partner Market Asset Management and is going to become a regular event with the next one scheduled to take place on 29th October.

Works have begun to improve the streetscape of Market Street. Improvements to the area will include the introduction of better cycle parking facilities, safer cycling routes and new modern street furniture, as well as pedestrian friendly measures including renewed footway paving, improved drainage and strategically placing bollards to prevent illegal parking. The changes that are being made here will make a real difference to the look at feel of the busy shopping area, making it more attractive for business owners and shoppers alike.

In September I attended the opening of Watford Chamber's Business Festival which offered local people opportunities to network and get advice about how to expand and grow their businesses. I would like to thank Watford Chamber for their hard work in pulling together such a fantastic programme of events for the week and everything they do to support businesses in Watford.

The Council has continued to provide grant funding to local people as we come out of the pandemic and has now paid over £6m to local businesses and individuals to ensure business can get back on their feet after a really tough 18 months.

Supporting the most vulnerable

Dementia Friendly Watford has been shortlisted for a Local Government Chronicle Award in the category of Diversity and Inclusion. Since becoming Mayor in 2018, making Watford more inclusive of those living with dementia has been a key priority of mine and the Council has undertaken a variety of activities, with the support of key partners in the town, to achieve this, including:

- Helping 14 local businesses become more dementia friendly
- Training over 3,000 people to become dementia friends
- Hosting 3 online events, 4 dementia restaurants and 8 memory cafes

It is great to be recognised for the work we have done to make Watford a more dementia friendly town and I would like to say a huge thank you everyone who has helped us on this journey. We couldn't have achieved this recognition without the great partnerships we have formed locally and, of course, the guidance and support we have had from the Alzheimer's Society.

Improvements to leisure facilities

In an effort to continue to improve the leisure facilities we offer as a council, we introduced a booking system for the Cassiobury Park paddling pools over the summer. This came after a number of residents got in touch to discuss the long wait times at the paddling pools and the risks that this posed to health, particularly on very warm and sunny days when people are most likely to be using the paddling pools. We have seen a good uptake in the booking system and hope that this has meant more people have been able to safely enjoy the facility.

Events in Watford

Over the summer the Council put on a fantastic programme of events for the 'Summer of Fun' including family favourites such as Big Screen, Big Beach and Big Bandstand. We also welcomed to Watford this summer a few new events including Colourscape and Stage in the Park, both of which were hugely successful and provided further opportunities for everyone in Watford to relax, unwind and enjoy being out and about again. It has been great to see people enjoying the culture and arts that Watford has to offer and I would like to thank all our partners who have helped add a little entertainment to Watford over the last few months. I am looking forward to seeing many more of our events return over the coming months, including the famous Cassiobury Fireworks display in November.

Agenda Item 11

Part A

Report to: Council

Date of report: 18 October 2021

Report author: Contract Manager (Parks and Streetcare)

Title: Sustainable vehicle options for Street Cleansing and Parks

1 Summary

1.1 Under the contract the council has with Veolia for managing the street cleansing and parks services the council has the responsibility for procuring and paying for replacements to the vehicle fleet. The current capital budget for replacing the fleet is £441,600 based on an estimate of like for like replacement. Currently the council has no electric or hybrid vehicles in this fleet.

- 1.2 New vehicles are purchased to replace the fleet in 5 year cycles and part of the fleet is due to be replaced. Following discussions with the Mayor and Portfolio Holder officers have been investigating the possibility of replacing some of the required vehicles with electric or hybrid models.
- 1.3 The report sets out what investigations have been undertaken by officers with regard to electric/hybrid alternatives and officers are recommending that 7 of the required new vehicles be purchased as electric alternatives. In order to do this an additional capital budget of circa £296,160 is required along with associated infrastructure costs at 3 sites (Wiggenhall, Woodside and Cassiobury Depots). Officers have identified that £200,000 of this can be met from the current capital budget for Woodside Sports Village and the remainder can be found by costs savings within the overall budget. Virements between capital budgets in excess of £100,000 can only be approved by council.

2 Risks

Nature of risk	Consequence	Suggested Control Measures	Response (treat, tolerate, terminate or transfer)	Risk Rating (combination of severity and likelihood)
Purchase prices of full electric and hybrid vehicles are significantly higher than diesel or petrol versions, costs of charging infrastructure are also high, and specialist maintenance providers may be required.	Budgets exceeded.	Additional budget to be requested and approved before procurement carried out.	Treat	Severity 3 x Likelihood 3 = rating of 9

The market segment for the larger commercial vehicle types required is not as well established as for 'light commercial vehicles' e.g. cars and small vans.	Limited choice and availability of suitable electric and hybrid vehicles.	Target vehicle types where there is known availability. Use a specialist sustainable vehicle procurement framework e.g. Nottingham City Council.	Treat	Severity 3 x Likelihood 3 = rating of 9
The council uses an agreed framework for procurement and the options available will be limited to the suppliers registered.	Limited electric and hybrid vehicle submissions received via procurement portal.	Target vehicle types where there is known availability. Use a specialist electric vehicle procurement framework e.g. Nottingham City Council.	Treat	Severity 3 x Likelihood 3 = rating of 9
Vehicle submissions through the procurement framework do not meet operational requirements.	Poor performance and ineffective service delivery.	Evaluate based on the following criteria: Pricing/Cost (45%) Compliance with the Specification and Quality Criteria (25%) User Experience and Performance of Vehicles (20%) Delivery (5%) Social Value (5%)	Treat	Severity 3 x Likelihood 3 = rating of 9
Lack of suitable sustainable vehicle options, few or no tenders received or demonstration vehicles not available.	Delay to vehicle replacement programme timeline, deterioration of current fleet resulting in reduced service quality and reliability.	A vehicle working group meets regularly to review current fleet performance and adjust vehicle replacement timelines accordingly.	Treat	Severity 3 x Likelihood 3 = rating of 9

3 Recommendations

3.1 That £200,000 capital budget currently allocated to the Woodside Community Sports Village project be vired into the capital budget for vehicle replacements for the Veolia contract.

Further information:

Hayley Page, Contract Manager (Parks and Streetcare)

Email: hayley.page@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: Chris Fennell, Head of Leisure & Environmental Services

4 Detailed proposal

4.1 Introduction

- 4.1.1 Watford Borough Council declared a Climate Emergency in July 2019 and set out a commitment to reduce the carbon footprint of the borough, with the ambitious goal of becoming carbon neutral by 2030. The council's Sustainability Strategy sets out how it intends to achieve this, which includes reducing emissions (such as from transport), and improving air quality.
- 4.1.2 Watford Borough Council are keen to lead by example. There is strong political support from Mayor Taylor and his Cabinet to introduce additional sustainable vehicles into our own fleet where practical and possible. This ambition is even more of a priority in light of the government's announcement to ban sales of new petrol and diesel engine cars and vans from 2030.
- 4.1.3 Electric vehicles still contribute to congestion and many councils and businesses have targets to reduce personal vehicle use. However, many journeys and deliveries will still require vehicles, and electric vehicles offer a 'clean' way to meet this need. Acquiring electric vehicles can lead to significant savings for the council to cut its carbon and nitrogen dioxide emissions from day one of operation of the new fleet units. Ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) are an excellent choice for local authorities, both financially and environmentally. As well as much lower fuel costs, there are various grants and tax incentives for electric cars and vans, which enhance the business case for acquisition.
- 4.1.4 There a number of environmental benefits when driven on electric power, ULEVs emit zero tailpipe carbon dioxide emissions. Whilst the vehicles are only as green as the electricity supply, vehicles charging from the UK's National Grid emit considerably less carbon dioxide per mile than petrol or diesel models.
- 4.1.5 It is not just air pollution that is improved. An advantage of electric vehicles is that they are much quieter than petrol and diesel vehicles, so noise pollution can be greatly reduced benefiting both residential and town centre areas. In fact, electric vehicles are so quiet, that they are now required by law to have an Acoustic Vehicle Alert System (AVAS) to emit an artificial sound to signal their presence to pedestrians when reversing or travelling below 12mph (19km/h).

- 4.1.6 Many of the vehicles used by Veolia are now reaching the end of their lifecycle and are due for replacement now. This is an ideal opportunity to assess whether it may be possible to introduce any further sustainable vehicles into the fleet. The procurement of new vehicles is decided by criteria which include cost, specification requirements, and operational performance.
- 4.1.7 The contract the council has with Veolia places the purchase and ownership of the fleet with the council. The rationale being resilience in case of contractor insolvency with the council still having its own useable fleet.
- 4.1.8 The council has a capital budget of £441,600 for vehicle replacement but this is based on a like for like replacement and the council currently has no electric vehicles in the vehicles to be replaced.

4.2 Current position

- 4.2.1 Within this current set of fleet replacements the council looking to replace 18 units. Following discussions with the Mayor and Portfolio Holder officers have been investigating introducing some electric or hybrid vehicles into the fleet.
- 4.2.2 The following vehicles are required for the Veolia contract now

Number required	Department	Vehicle type
1	Street Cleansing	4t/5t box van - Graffiti
1	Street Cleansing	3.5t box van - Street furniture
4	Street Cleansing	3.5t cage tipper
6	Parks and Open Spaces	3.5t cage tipper
1	Refuse - Special Collections	7.5t cage tipper
1	Street Cleansing	7.5t cage tipper
1	Street Cleansing	12t sweeper
1	Parks and Open Spaces	4x4 pick up
1	Parks and Open Spaces	Utility vehicle
1	Street Cleansing	Compact sweeper

4.3 Overview and insight of the vehicle market

4.3.1 The Procurement Partnership Limited (TPPL) are leading providers of compliant framework agreements and specialist procurement services, working with Watford. They are experienced in procuring vehicles for councils across the country and are therefore very knowledgeable about the current state of the market and options available. They have approximately 800 public sector members, procure thousands of vehicles and have stronger purchasing and discount power than the borough council.

- 4.3.2 All TPPL vehicle framework agreements are scoped to include electric, LPG Liquid Petroleum Gas, hydrogen & all bio fuel mixtures, in addition to conventionally fuelled petrol, diesel and hybrid vehicles. However, TPPL have advised that electric and hybrid options for the types of vehicles we are currently looking to procure are very limited at the moment as this is a new segment of the market which only started to emerge recently. As a result, there tends to be less choice, lower availability and a much greater purchase price compared to diesel and petrol versions.
- 4.3.3 Research has identified that the market is much better established and more competitive for light commercial vehicles such as small electric vans and electric cars usually between 650kg and 2000kg. The council would benefit from replacing such vehicle types with electric in the future, for example the vans in Cassiobury Park, Community Protection and Facilities Management.

4.4 Purchase price comparison

- 4.4.1 In order to establish whether there are any electric or hybrid alternatives available for the vehicles we need to replace, TPPL, Veolia and the council's Energy team have been consulted.
- 4.4.2 Purchase prices of full electric vehicles tend to be significantly higher than diesel or petrol. Exact purchase prices will depend on the specifications and conversions required, and the indications may be greatly exceeded.

4.5 Whole life costs

- 4.5.1 It is important to consider potential whole life costs of vehicles, as well as initial purchase prices. This includes costs relating to servicing, maintenance and running of the vehicles, such as replacement batteries, or electricity vs. fuel usage.
- 4.5.2 TPPL have advised that whole life costings are not currently available as an industry standard, but are hoping to have a costings model available soon. Analysis so far has shown lack of overall savings for larger vehicles due to the much higher purchase prices. This may change in the future as this new segment of the market becomes more established, with economies of production. Hybrid whole life costs are more comparable as these vehicles do not require charging points, have much lower purchase prices than full electric and there are cost savings on fuel. It is much more likely that whole life cost savings would be made with small electric vans and electric cars.
- 4.5.3 Over a 5 year vehicle lifespan through replacing 6 x 3.5t cage tippers with electric alternatives, it is anticipated that £38,000.60 would be saved in fuel costs along with a 6,360.00 g/km reduction in carbon emissions. This is based on data from use of the current vehicles in the fleet during 2020/21 totalling £7,600.12 on fuel and 1,272.00 g/km in CO² over the year. These cost savings do not include the electricity costs incurred to charge the vehicles. Cost savings linked to the electric compact sweeper are yet to be identified and will be measured during year one of operation to create a baseline.

4.6 Charging infrastructure logistics and costs

- 4.6.1 Electric vehicle charging requirements will depend on the vehicle type, make/model, quantity and location.
- 4.6.2 The council's electric vehicle charging infrastructure supplier will undertake a site survey at the 3 operational depots (Wiggenhall, Woodside and Cassiobury) in order to establish needs and costs, based on purchasing 6 x 3.5t / 4.05t cage tippers.
- 4.6.3 It is estimated that supply and installation across the sites will cost circa £35,000.

4.7 Government incentives and grants

4.7.1 There are some grants available towards sustainable vehicles, such as the government's plugin van grant, which is claimed by the supplier and reflected in the purchase price. The Workplace Charge Scheme grant may also provide support towards the costs of installing charging points for the vehicles. New funding opportunities will be explored as they become available.

4.8 Operational requirements and service delivery

- 4.8.1 Most vehicles in the fleet have an estimated lifespan of 5 years, after which they are replaced in order to ensure effective and reliable service delivery. Extending this could pose a risk to service delivery as the vehicles may become less reliable, incur greater maintenance costs and eventually sell for a lower value at auction.
- 4.8.2 In terms of maintenance, Veolia currently maintain mostly diesel/petrol vehicles, and may require specialist contractors for electric/hybrid vehicles and the charging infrastructure. This could result in additional costs for the council. Training would also be required for Veolia workshop engineers to acquire new skills.

4.9 Conclusion

4.9.1 Officers are recommending purchasing 7 of the 18 required vehicles as electric models. It is estimated that the additional cost of purchasing will be £296,160 over the existing capital budget agreed by council. Officers are recommending that £200,000 of this is found by transferring this sum from the Woodside Sports Village capital budget. The remainder will be found by cost savings elsewhere in the budget. The actual vehicle costs will not be known until the procurement exercise to purchase them has been completed, however officers are of the view that the requested increase should be sufficient.

4.9.2 Below is the proposed vehicles to be procured:

Quantity required	Vehicle type	Proposed Vehicle type	
1	4t/5t box van - Graffiti	Procure diesel	
1	3.5t box van – Street furniture	Procure diesel	
10	3.5t or 4.05t cage tipper	Procure: • 4 x diesel (3.5t) • 2 x electric (3.5t) * • 4 x electric (4.05t)	
* The majority of the 3.5t cage tipper replacements require tail lifts, and a minimum payload			

^{*} The majority of the 3.5t cage tipper replacements require tail lifts, and a minimum payload of 800kg. The electric 3.5t cage tippers currently available on the market are not able to meet these requirements. We are aiming to accommodate a small number of these (two) through some operational adjustments. In order to meet wider service needs, we need to consider purchasing slightly larger 4.05t vehicles. Use of 4.05t vehicles will require training and licence updates for Veolia staff, and they have a higher purchase price (by circa £20,000).

2	7.5t cage tipper	The hybrid models have been withdrawn from the market and the cost of a full electric alternative is significantly over budget (circa £120,000)
		Procure diesel
1	12t sweeper	Procure diesel
1	4x4 pick up	Procure diesel
1	Utility vehicle	Procure diesel
1	Compact sweeper	Procure Electric We have been advised that the Green Machine is the closest model to meeting our requirements. We are looking into purchasing the smaller battery option (circa £82,000).
Total = 18 units		sustainable units = 7 units

5 Implications

5.1 Financial

- 5.1.1 The current capital budget for replacing the fleet is £441,600. This is sufficient to replace existing with like for like replacements.
- 5.1.2 The vehicle type with the largest quantity required is the 3.5t cage tipper at 10 units. It is being proposed that 4 are replaced with diesel and 6 with electric. It is also proposed that 1 x diesel compact sweeper is replaced with electric. This will have the following estimated cost implications:

Current budget

Current budget for replacing 10 x 3.5t cage tippers with like for like diesel replacements at £39,690 each	£396,900
Current budget for replacing 1 x compact sweeper with a like for	£44,700
like diesel replacement at £44,700 each	
Total	£441,600

Required additional budget

Cost of replacing 4 x 3.5t cages with diesel at £39,690 each	£158,760
Cost of replacing 2 x 3.5t cages with electric at estimated £62,000	£124,000
each	
Cost of replacing 4 x 4.05t cages with electric at estimated £82,000	£328,000
each	
Cost of replacing 1 compact sweeper with electric at estimated	£82,000
£82,000 each	
Cost of charging infrastructure (the council's existing supplier to	£35,000
be used)	
Contingency e.g. price inflation	£10,000
Total	£737,760
Minus existing budget	- £441,600
Additional budget required	£296,160

5.1.4 It is recommended that £200,000 of the capital budget currently allocated to the Woodside Community Sports Village project be vired into the vehicle replacement budget. The remainder of the additional budget required would be met by cost savings made through projected vehicle replacement budgets tending to be higher than actual vehicle purchase prices. Should the cost be greater than the revised budget of £641,600 then the balance of electric vehicles to traditional vehicles would need to be revisited to come within budget.

- **5.2** Legal issues (Monitoring Officer)
- 5.2.1 The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments that virements between capital budgets of sums over £100,000 can only be approved by council under the budget and policy procedure rules in the constitution.

5.3 Equalities, Human Rights and Data Protection

5.3.1 There are no implications identified in this report linked to equalities, human rights and data protection.

5.4 Staffing

5.4.1 There are no implications identified in this report linked to staffing.

5.5 Accommodation

5.5.1 Charging infrastructure will need to be installed at Wiggenhall Depot, Woodside Depot and Cassiobury Depot.

5.6 Community Safety/Crime and Disorder

5.6.1 There are no implications identified in this report linked to community safety/crime and disorder.

5.7 Sustainability

5.7.1 Purchasing electric and hybrid vehicles will work towards the council's Corporate Plan and goal of becoming carbon neutral by 2030, fulfilling elements of the council's Sustainability Strategy which includes reducing emissions (such as from transport), and improving air quality.

Report to Council – 18 October 2021

Report of Licensing Committee – 30 September 2021

Present: Councillor G Saffery (Chair)

Councillor Devonish (Vice Chair)

Councillors Crout, Feldman, Hannon, Hofman, Khan, Mauthoor, A Saffery,

Smith, Stiff and Wenham

Officers: Head of Community Protection

Senior Solicitor

Senior Licensing Officer
Business Compliance Officer
Democratic Services Manager
Democratic Services Officer

There was the following recommendation to Council.

14. Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025

The committee received a report of the Senior Licensing Officer detailing the public consultation of the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025.

The policy was presented at July committee, which included a no casino resolution. There were three responses from the public consultation, none of which suggested amending or reviewing the statement of principles.

Councillor Hannon asked about the no casino principle, being approved by the council in relation to the full council meeting date of 12 October which had yet to occur.

The Senior Licensing Officer stated that the date of the full council meeting in the report needed to be changed as it was now to be held on the 18 October. The no casino resolution was in the report to reflect the current position and maintain the status quo. If the no casino recommendation was not agreed at council, Democratic Services would be consulted.

Following a question from Councillor Hofman regarding the no casino resolution, the Senior Licensing Officer stated that there had been no interest shown in opening a casino in Watford. The policy regarding no casino was always dependent on national guidance and legislation, however there was some discretion in some areas. There was a possibility to depart from guidance if a good reason was provided.

In response to a further question from Councillor Hofman, regarding exemptions to the no casino resolution, the Senior Licensing Officer stated that there were exemptions under law to allow people to put on events that could be described as casino style nights. There were occasional use or temporary use licenses for one off small scale events. The resolution was for a permanent casino premises licence.

Councillor Hannon having asked about the distinction between large bingo venues and casinos, the Senior Licensing Officer stated that there were legal definitions between casino and bingo venues. These were set out in the legislation.

RESOLVED -

- 1. That the Licensing Committee recommends that the Council, acting as the licensing authority for the Borough of Watford, adopts the Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005 as set out at appendix 1, to take effect from 6th January 2022 upon the expiry of the existing policy.
- That the committee recommends that the Council resolves under section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 that it will continue with the policy not to issue any casino premises licences as it believes a casino would detract from its aspiration to create a safe, prosperous and family-friendly town centre.

Part A

Report to: Licensing Committee

Date of meeting: Thursday, 30 September 2021

Report author: Licensing Manager

Title: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 - 2025

1.0 **Summary**

- 1.1 The council is the local licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005 and is required to review, consult upon and publish a policy document every three years. The current policy expires on 6th January 2022.
- 1.2 Only minor amendments are suggested to the existing policy.
- 1.3 A public consultation on the proposed policy was carried out between 14th July 2021 and the 25th August 2021.
- 1.4 Members are being asked to approve the Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022 2025 that will take effect from 6th January 2022.

2.0 Risks

2.1

Nature of risk	Consequence	Suggested Control Measures	Response (treat, tolerate, terminate or transfer)	Risk Rating (combination of severity and likelihood)
Not implementing the policy	The policy would expire and there would be no framework for dealing with applications made under the Act. As a result the council would not be able to effectively regulate gambling premises in the Borough.	Ensure policy is properly implemented by 6 th January 2022.	Treat	2
Legal challenge	Negative perception of council and its	Carry out consultation in	Treat	2

from failure	licensing functions,	accordance with the	
to properly	and challenge	Government's	
consult	through the Courts	published principles	
		of consultation	

3.0 Recommendations

- 3.1 That the Licensing Committee recommends that the Council, acting as the licensing authority for the Borough of Watford, adopts the Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005 as set out at appendix 1, to take effect from 6th January 2022 upon the expiry of the existing policy.
- 3.2 The Committee recommends that the Council resolves under section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005 that it will continue with the policy not to issue any casino premises licences as it believes a casino would detract from its aspiration to create a safe, prosperous and family-friendly town centre.

Further information:

Oliver Rawlings, Licensing Manager oliver.rawlings@watford.gov.uk

Report approved by: Justine Hoy, Head of Community Protection

4.0 **Detailed proposal**

4.1 <u>Background</u>

- 4.2 Under the Gambling Act 2005 the council is responsible for preparing a "statement of principles" setting out how it exercises its various responsibilities in terms of issuing premises licences, liaising with the Gambling Commission (a national coregulator), carrying out its enforcement functions and issuing permits for small-scale gambling such as machines in alcohol-licensed premises and registering small society lotteries.
- 4.3 The existing statement of principles is due to expire on 6th January 2022. The council is required to update its statement of principles before the current one expires.
- 4.4 In preparing the statement the licensing authority must have regard to the three licensing objectives of the Gambling Act, namely:
 - preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
 - ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

- protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. The Gambling Commission states: "The requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling".
- 4.5 To give the context for Watford, the following table sets out the current licenses issued and applications dealt with over the last three years.

Type of Licence	Issued in 2018	Issued in 2021	Applications Received (within last 3 years)
Adult Gaming Centre	1	1	0
Betting Shop	19	17 (-2)	6 (all transfers)
Bingo	1	1	0
Club Gaming Permit	0	0	0
Club Machine Permit	9	6 (-3)	3
Gaming Machines (up to 2 machines)	27	27	2
Gaming Machines (3 or more machines)	15	15	1
Small Society Lotteries	79	69 (-10)	4
Track Betting	0	0	0
Totals	151	136	16

As can be seen the numbers of licences within Watford are generally very low and have decreased during the last three years.

4.6 Currently, Watford is not one of the areas of the country where casino licences can be issued. However, the council is advised to pass a resolution that it will continue not to issue any casino licences in order to protect this position should the regulations regarding casino licences change. This reinforces the council's position of aspiring to create a safe, prosperous, and family friendly town centre, with a diverse night time economy. The resolution is contained at paragraph 12.1 of the statement. It is advised that this resolution be in force from 6th January 2022 upon the expiry of the current policy.

4.7 Consultation

- 4.8 A public consultation was carried out between 14th July 2021 and the 25th August 2021.
- 4.9 Officers can confirm that the following parties were consulted on this proposal, identified as responsible authorities under the Gambling Act, and parties who represent businesses and other persons within the Borough:

- (a) Holders of premises licences, permits and gaming machine notices issued under the Act and their agents
- (b) Trading Standards (Hertfordshire County Council)
- (c) Residents of the Borough (residents' associations)
- (d) Hertfordshire Constabulary
- (e) Gambling Commission
- (f) Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service
- (g) Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children's Board (Hertfordshire County Council)
- (h) Development Management (Watford Borough Council)
- (i) Environmental Health (Watford Borough Council)
- (j) Her Majesty's Revenue & Customs
- (k) Watford Borough Councillors
- (I) Hertfordshire County Council Director of Public Health

Details of the consultation were placed on the council website and a public notice was displayed at the Town Hall from 15 July 2021. Letters and emails were sent to licence and permit holders and their agents on 15 July 2021.

4.10 Consultation Responses

- 4.11 Three consultation responses were received and these are shown in Appendix 2. None of these responses suggested any amendments to the revised statement of principles.
- 4.12 Responses were received from:
 - Hertfordshire constabulary;
 - Watford Environmental Health; and
 - Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board.
- 4.13 Officer's would suggest that the lack of responses to the consultation does not reflect on the quality of the consultation but is a result of:
 - The proposed changes only being very minor with little or no impact on existing licence holders or other stakeholders;
 - The previous policy having been fit for purpose meaning that there had not been any negative impacts from the operation of the policy from either a licence holder or stakeholder perspective.
- 4.14 Officers are therefore proposing no amendments to the draft document approved for consultation by the Licensing Committee on 8th July 2021 which is attached at appendix 1.

5.0 **Implications**

5.1 Financial

- 5.1.1 The Shared Director of Finance comments that there are no direct financial implications in this report.
- 5.2 **Legal Issues** (Monitoring Officer)
- 5.2.1 The Group Head of Democracy and Governance comments that the legal implications are contained within the report.

Appendices

- Appendix 1 Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles 2022-2025
- Appendix 2 Consultation responses

Background papers

• No papers were used in the preparation of this report.



GAMBLING ACT 2005

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES JANUARY 2022

Comments are invited on this document to:

Community Protection Watford Borough Council Town Hall Watford Hertfordshire WD17 3EX

Tel: 01923 278476

Email: licensing@watford.gov.uk

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES Gambling Act 2005

(Published 6th January 2022)

1. Preface

- 1.1 Under the Gambling Act 2005, a new regime for regulating gambling and betting was introduced throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2007. Apart from spread betting, gambling and betting (including the National Lottery) are regulated by the Gambling Commission, whose duties include licensing the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and betting facilities.
- 1.2 Watford Borough Council, along with other local licensing authorities, has a duty under the Act to license premises where gambling takes place, and to license certain other activities (such as registering small society lotteries). This document sets out how we intend to approach this task.
- 1.3 The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by licensing authorities:
 - the chief officer of Police for the authority's area
 - one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the authority's area
 - one or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the authority's functions under the Act.
- 1.4 Our consultation took place between 14th July 2021 and 25th August 2021, and we followed the guidance on Consultation principles issued by the Cabinet Office (last updated March 2018), which is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance.
- 1.5 In drawing up the policy, we consulted:
 - local residents and their representatives
 - holders of various licences for premises in the Borough who will be affected by it
 - Hertfordshire Constabulary
 - Hertfordshire Fire & Rescue Service
 - Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership
 - Hertfordshire Director of Public Health
 - Watford Business Improvement District
 - the Gambling Commission
 - the local planning authority
 - Environmental Health
 - HM Revenue and Customs
- 1.6 We placed details on our website and a public notice was placed at the Town Hall for the duration of the consultation.

PART A

2. Introduction

- 2.1 This Statement of Principles was approved at a meeting of the council's Licensing Committee on 30th September 2021 and adopted at a meeting of full council on 12th October 2021. It is effective from 6th January 2022 and expires on 6th January 2025.
- 2.2 It should be noted that this policy statement will not override the right of any person to make an application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each case will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the Gambling Act 2005.

Authorised activities

- 2.3 'Gambling' is defined in the Act as either gaming, betting or taking part in a lottery:
 - 'gaming' means playing a game of chance for a prize
 - 'betting' means making or accepting a bet on the outcome of a race, competition, or any other event; the likelihood of anything occurring or not occurring; or whether anything is true or not true
 - a 'lottery' is where persons are required to pay in order to take part in an arrangement, during the course of which one or more prizes are allocated by a process which relies wholly on chance.
- 2.4 Private gaming in private dwellings and on domestic occasions is exempt from licensing or registration providing that no charge is made for participating. Domestic betting between inhabitants of the same premises or between employees of the same employer is also exempt; Private gaming can potentially take place on commercial premises in very specific circumstances, and where the public have access, but organisers are advised to seek advice before organising events of this nature.
- 2.5 Non-commercial gaming and betting (where no parts of the proceeds are for private gain) may be subject to certain exemptions. Further advice should be sought from the council's licensing team where appropriate.

Licensing Objectives

- 2.6 In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, licensing authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act. The licensing objectives are:
 - preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime
 - ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 - protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. The Gambling Commission states: "The requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being harmed or exploited by gambling".

Statement of Principles

- 2.7 This Statement of Principles is intended to meet the council's obligations under section 349 of the Act. In carrying out its' functions in relation to premises licences and temporary use notices, the council will generally aim to permit the use of premises for gambling as long as it is considered to be:
 - in accordance with any relevant Codes of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 - in accordance with any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission.
 All references to the guidance refer to the Gambling Commission's Guidance to Licensing Authorities (published April 20121 and updated May 2021)
 - reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives
 - in accordance with this Statement of Principles.

Types of Licences and Permissions

- 2.8 Under the Act, the Gambling Commission is responsible for issuing operating licences and personal licences. The council in its' capacity as a licensing authority will:
 - be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling activities are to take place by issuing premises licences
 - issue provisional statements
 - regulate members' clubs and miners' welfare institutes who wish to undertake certain gaming activities via issuing club gaming permits and/or club machine permits
 - Issue club machine permits to commercial clubs
 - grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines at unlicensed family entertainment centres
 - receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or less gaming machines
 - grant licensed premises gaming machine permits for premises licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two machines are required
 - register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds
 - issue prize gaming permits
 - receive and endorse temporary use notices
 - receive occasional use notices
 - provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued
 - maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued under these functions
 - exercise its powers of compliance and enforcement under the Act in partnership with the Gambling Commission and other relevant responsible authorities.

The Gambling Commission

- 2.9 The Gambling Commission regulates gambling in the public interest. It does so by keeping crime out of gambling; by ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and by protecting children and vulnerable people. The Commission provides support and advice to the government about the manner in which gambling is carried out, the effects of gambling, and the regulation of gambling generally.
- 2.10 The Commission has issued guidance under section 25 of the Act about the manner in which licensing authorities exercise their licensing functions under the Act and, in particular, the principles to be applied.
- 2.11 The Commission will also issue Codes of Practice under section 24 about the way in which facilities for gambling are provided, which may also include provisions about the advertising of gambling facilities.
- 2.12 The Gambling Commission can be contacted at:

Gambling Commission Fourth Floor Victoria Square House Victoria Square Birmingham B2 4BP

Website: www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

3. General Statement of Principles

- 3.1 The council recognises the wide variety of premises which will require a licence or a permit. These include casinos, betting shops, bingo halls, pubs, clubs and amusement arcades.
- 3.2 In carrying out its licensing functions the council will have regard to any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission from time to time.
- 3.3 The council will not seek to use the Act to resolve matters more readily dealt with under other legislation.
- 3.4 To ensure the licensing objectives are met the council will establish a close working relationship with the Police, the Gambling Commission and, where appropriate, other responsible authorities.
- 3.5 Where children, young persons and other vulnerable people are allowed access to premises where gambling takes place, the council may take whatever steps are considered necessary to either limit access generally or by introducing measures to prevent under-age gambling where it believes it is right to do so for the prevention of their physical, moral or psychological harm from gambling, especially where it receives representations to that effect.
- 3.6 Applicants seeking premises licences are encouraged to propose any prohibitions or restrictions of their own in circumstances where it is felt that the presence of children would be undesirable or inappropriate.
- 3.7 However, the overriding principle is that all applications and the circumstances prevailing at each premises will be considered on their own individual merits. When applying these principles the licensing authority will consider, in the light of relevant representations, whether exceptions should be made in any particular case. As with the Gambling Commission, the licensing authority will regulate gambling in the public interest.

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder

- 3.8 The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that aim to prevent criminals from providing facilities for gambling.
- 3.9 Anyone applying to the council for a premises licence will have to hold an operating licence from the Commission before a licence can be issued, with the only exception being applications for track premises licences. Therefore, the council will not generally be concerned with the suitability of an applicant and where concerns about a person's suitability arise the council will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.
- 3.10 If an application for a licence or permit is received in relation to premises which are in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, the council will, in consultation with the Police and other relevant authorities, consider whether specific controls need to be applied to prevent those premises from being a source of crime.

- 3.11 There are already powers in existing anti-social behaviour and licensing legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it arises as a result of noise from a building or from general disturbance once people have left a building. The council does not intend to (and indeed, cannot) use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues, for example, parking problems, which can easily be dealt with using other powers.
- 3.12 Issues of disorder should only be dealt with under the Act if the disorder amounts to activity which is more serious and disruptive than mere nuisance and it can be shown that gambling is the source of that disorder. A disturbance might be serious enough to constitute disorder if Police assistance was required to deal with it. Another factor which could be taken into account is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it, and whether those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have business interests that might be affected.
- 3.13 When making decisions in this regard the council will give due weight to any comments made by the Police.

Ensuring gambling is conducted in a fair and open way

- 3.14 The Gambling Commission does not generally expect local authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will either be a matter for the management of the gambling business or will relate to the suitability and actions of an individual. Both issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and personal licensing regime.
- 3.15 Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the Commission the council may, in certain circumstances, require conditions on a licence relating to the suitability of the environment in which betting takes place.

Protecting children and other vulnerable people from gambling

- 3.16 Apart from one or two limited exceptions, the intention of the Act is that children and young persons should not be allowed to gamble and should therefore be prevented from entering gambling premises which are 'adult-only' environments.
- 3.17 In practice, steps will generally be taken to prevent children from taking part in, or being in close proximity to, gambling especially with regard to premises situated in areas where there may be a high rate of reported truancy. There may also be restrictions on advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly attractive to children.
- 3.18 When considering whether to grant a premises licence or permit the council will consider whether any measures are necessary to protect children, such as the supervision of entrances, the segregation of gambling from areas frequented by children and the supervision of gaming machines in non-adult gambling specific premises, such as pubs, clubs, betting tracks etc.

- 3.19 In seeking to protect vulnerable people the council will include people who gamble more than they want to, people who gamble beyond their means, and people who may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling, perhaps due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.
- 3.20 Children (defined in the Act as under 16s) and young persons (16-17s) may take part in private and non-commercial betting and gaming but the Act contains a number of restrictions on the circumstances in which they may participate in gambling or be on premises where gambling is taking place. An adult is defined as 18 and over. In summary:
 - betting shops cannot admit anyone under 18
 - bingo clubs may admit those under 18 but must have policies to ensure they do not gamble, except on category D machines
 - Adult Entertainment Centres cannot admit those under 18
 - Family Entertainment Centres and premises with an alcohol premises licence such as pubs) can admit under-18s, but they may not play category C machines which are restricted to those over 18
 - clubs with a Club Premises Certificate can admit under-18s, but they
 must have policies to ensure those under 18 do not play machines other
 than category D machines
 - tracks will be required to have policies to ensure that under 18s do not participate in gambling, except on category D machines.
- 3.21 The council will always treat each case on its own individual merits and when considering whether specific measures are required to protect children and other vulnerable people will balance its considerations against the overall principle of aiming to permit the use of premises for gambling.
- 3.22 In January 2018 Public Health England, the Local Government Association and the Gambling Commission wrote to Directors of Public Health in England outlining the links between Public Health and gambling; specifically that problem gambling can have an impact on physical, mental and emotional health and wellbeing. The letter suggests that local Public Health teams have a critical role to play in developing licensing authorities' Statement of Principles as they have a good understanding of health issues within a local authority area.
- 3.23 Although Local Public Health Departments are not Responsible Authorities the licensing authority will seek advice from the local Public Health team in order to assess applications and this statement of principles. This approach will be taken to assist the licensing authority in exercising its own functions as a responsible authority, and reflects the comments made in the guidance.

4. The Borough of Watford

- 4.1 Watford Borough Council is situated in the county of Hertfordshire, which contains ten district councils in total. The council area has a population of now 96,600 (mid-year estimate 2016) making it one of the smallest in the county in terms of population and one of the most densely populated in the country.
- 4.2 Watford Borough was granted a Royal Charter in 1922. Traditionally a market town, it has developed into an attractive sub-regional shopping centre and important centre for cultural and recreational facilities. Watford has a catchment area population of approximately 500,000 within a travel time of 20 minutes from the town centre (CACI Ltd 2001).
- 4.3 Situated in the south west of Hertfordshire, Watford has several locational advantages due to its excellent communication links. The M1 motorway, with direct links to the town centre, and the London to Glasgow railway pass through the Borough. London Euston can be reached in 20 minutes, while the nearby M25 motorway has enhanced road access to the major airports at Heathrow, Gatwick, Stansted and Luton.
- 4.4 Watford has major A-road links to adjoining areas and is also connected to the underground rail network with the Metropolitan Line terminus adjacent to Cassiobury Park. A branch line railway serves St. Albans Abbey.
- 4.5 Watford Borough covers an area of 2,142 hectares (8.3 sq. miles). Watford is a major town in the region. It is a sub-regional shopping destination, centered around the Atria Shopping Centre in the town centre, and has one of the most vibrant night-time economies in Hertfordshire. Upgrading works to the pond and surrounding area were completed in 2014, and improvement works to the intu centre and associated High Street improvement works were completed late 2018 and early 2019. It was traditionally a centre for the printing industry and now boasts the headquarters of a number of nationally known firms. Unemployment figures are well below Great Britain's average. However there are pockets of deprivation, characterised by a high concentration of minority ethnic groups, single parent families, low income households and a high incidence of long term health problems.
- 4.6 Potential operators should however refer to the District Plan and the emerging Local Development Framework (through our Development Management Team or on our website at www.watford.gov.uk) for details about the local planning authority's approach to granting planning permission for developments where such activities may take place.
- 4.7 Further information about the Borough is contained in the Watford Local Plan 2006-2031 Part 1 Core Strategy which can be obtained from the Council's offices or at:
 - https://www.watford.gov.uk/info/20012/planning_and_building_control/1051/watford_loca%20l_plan
- 4.8 In September 2008 we launched a 24-hour strategy for the town centre and following public consultation, we began to tackle some key issues which are now being addressed. In January 2009 we launched our Cultural Study to remodel the town centre particularly The Parade to act as a stimulating focal point for culture and heritage within the borough. The Cultural Plan saw

- physical improvements to the Pond and the Parade area and the creation of an events space; works which were completed in 2014.
- 4.9 The events space has seen events such as the Big Beach, the Big Screen and the Big Skate, and the Town Centre as a whole has hosted an 'Imagine Watford' Arts festival on a number of occasions. The council has adopted a Cultural Strategy to run from 2018 until 2025 which seeks to grow sustainable opportunities for creative enterprise, cultural provision, and participation for our local communities. The council is also working on a Town Centre Vision, which will build on the extension to the shopping centre and the associated improvement works to the High Street between Clarendon Road and Market Street. This statement of principles will be used to help deliver the Town Centre Vision and accordingly may need to be reviewed before its expiry in 2025 as the Vision develops.
- 4.10 This approach and initiatives above led to us being awarded Purple Flag accreditation for our management with our partners of our town centre night-time economy in September 2012. The Purple Flag accreditation was renewed in 2016, and again in 2018. The accreditation was due to reconsidered in 2020, but was delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic.
- 4.11 As of 6 April 2016, it is a mandatory condition for holders of operating licences to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in the licensing authority's statement of principles and reference the authority's Local Area Profile where there is one.
- 4.12 It is not a requirement for licensing authorities to complete a Local Area Profile. Although the council has not completed a Local Area Profile we encourage operators to contact the licensing authority to consider and identify potential areas of mutual concern affecting their business in a way that aims to permit gambling without presenting risks to the licensing objectives, as required by the Gambling Act.
- 4.13 Licensing authorities are required by the Gambling Act 2005 to publish a statement of the principles which they proposed to apply when exercising their functions. This statement must be published at least every three years. The statement must also be reviewed from 'time to time' and any amended parts re-consulted upon. The statement must be then re-published.

5. Responsible Authorities

5.1 These are generally public bodies that must be notified of all applications and who are entitled to make representations to the council if they are relevant to the licensing objectives.

Section 157 of the Act defines those authorities as:

- the Gambling Commission
- the Police
- the Fire Service
- a competent body to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm
- the local planning authority
- Environmental Health
- HM Revenue and Customs
- a licensing authority in whose area the premises is situated (that is, the council itself and also any adjoining council where premises straddle the boundaries between the two).
- 5.2 Although Local Public Health Departments are not responsible authorities the licensing authority will seek advice from the local Public Health team in in order to assess applications and its statement of principles. This approach will be taken to assist the licensing authority in exercising its own functions as a responsible authority.
- 5.3 Any concerns expressed by a responsible authority in relation to their own functions cannot be taken into account unless they are relevant to the application itself and the licensing objectives. In this regard the council will not generally take into account representations which are deemed to be irrelevant, such as:
 - there are too many gambling premises in the locality (because need for gambling facilities cannot be taken into account)
 - the premises are likely to be a fire risk (because public safety is not a licensing objective)
 - the location of the premises is likely to lead to traffic congestion (because this does not relate to the licensing objectives)
 - the premises will cause crowds to congregate in one area causing noise and nuisance (because other powers are generally available to deal with these issues. It should be noted that, unlike the Licensing Act 2003, the Gambling Act does not include as a specific licensing objective the prevention of public nuisance. Any nuisance associated with gambling premises should be tackled under other relevant laws).

Each representation will, however, be considered on its own individual merits.

5.4 Child protection

The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the protection of children from harm. The principles are:

- the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the licensing authority's area
- the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, rather than any particular vested interest group etc.

In accordance with the above principles, the licensing authority designates the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Partnership for this purpose.

5.5 The contact details of all the responsible authorities under the Gambling Act 2005 are available via the council's website at www.watford.gov.uk.

6. Interested parties

6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a review of an existing licence. These parties are defined in the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

"For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation to an application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion of the licensing authority which issues the licence or to which the applications is made, the person -

- a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorities activities
- b) has business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
- c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)"
- 6.2 The licensing authority is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine whether a person is an interested party. The principles are:
 - each case will be decided upon its merits. This authority will not apply
 a rigid rule to its decision making. In the case of doubt, the benefit will
 be given to the party making the representation until the contrary can
 be shown.
 - interested parties can include trade associations, and residents'/tenants' associations, providing that they can show they represent someone who would be classed as an interested party in their own right. Councillors and MPs may also be interested parties. Elected councillors may represent interested parties, providing they do not also sit on the Licensing sub-committee determining the application in question.
 - In determining whether someone lives sufficiently close to a particular premises as to likely to be affected by the authorised activities, or has business interests likely to be affected, the council may take account of:
 - the size of the premises
 - the nature of the premises
 - the nature of the authorised activities being proposed
 - the distance of the premises from the person making the representation
 - the characteristics of the complainant (including any special interests or knowledge relating to the application in question)
 - the potential impact of the premises
- 6.3 The licensing authority will not consider representations that are frivolous or vexatious, or which relate to demand or need for gambling facilities. Decisions on whether representations are frivolous or vexatious will be made objectively and not on the basis of any political judgement. Where representations are rejected, the person making that representation will be given a written reason. A report will be made to the licensing sub-committee determining the application (if appropriate), indicating the general grounds of the representation and the reason it was rejected.

- 6.4 A vexatious representation is generally taken to be one which is repetitive, without foundation or made for some other reason such as malice. A frivolous representation is generally taken to be one that is lacking in seriousness, or is unrelated to the licensing objectives, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission or this statement of licensing policy.
- 6.5 Interested parties should appreciate that moral objections to gambling, or the need for gambling premises, are not valid reasons to reject applications for premises licences.
- 6.6 Representations must be made in writing and must:
 - indicate the name and address of the person or organisation making the representation
 - indicate the premises to which the representation relates
 - indicate the proximity of the premises to the person making the representation. A sketch map or plan may be helpful to show this
 - clearly set out the reasons for making the representation. Reference to a specific licensing objective may be helpful.

7. Exchange of Information

- 7.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statement the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions under section 350 of the Act with the respect to the exchange of information between it and the other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.
- 7.2 The principle that this licensing authority applies is that it will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the General Data Protection Regulations and the Data Protection Act 2018 will not be contravened. The licensing authority will also have regard to Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.
- 7.3 The authority may from time to time exercise its' powers under section 115 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to exchange data and information with the Police and other partners to fulfil its' statutory objective of reducing crime in the area.
- 7.4 Details of applications and representations which are referred to a Licensing sub-Committee for determination will be published in reports that are made publicly available in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the Freedom of Information Act 2000. Personal details of people making representations will be disclosed to applicants and only be withheld from publication on the grounds of personal safety where the licensing authority is asked to do so.

8. Compliance and Enforcement

- 8.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act 2005 to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to institute criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified.
- 8.2 This licensing authority's principles are that it will be guided by the Gambling Commission's Guidance for local authorities and it will endeavour to be:
 - proportionate: it will only intervene when necessary, remedies will be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised
 - accountable: with decisions being justifiable, and be subject to public scrutiny
 - consistent: rules and standards will be joined up and implemented fairly
 - transparent and open: licence conditions will be kept simple and user friendly; and
 - targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects.
- 8.3 The licensing authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes. Where matters come to light which are properly the role of other statutory agencies however, the licensing authority may bring those matters to the attention of those other agencies where appropriate.
- 8.4 The licensing authority notes the Commission's risk-based inspection programme, based on:
 - the licensing objectives
 - relevant codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission
 - guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, in particular at Part 36 of the Guidance to Local Authorities
 - the principles set out in this statement of licensing policy.
- 8.5 The licensing authority has an established working partnership with the Gambling Commission, and undertakes risk-based inspections and compliance visits.
- 8.6 The main enforcement and compliance role for this licensing authority in terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the premises licences and other permissions which is authorises. Enforcement involves taking formal action where either those requirements are not met or illegal activities take place.
- 8.7 The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for operator and personal licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.
- 8.8 We have a long-established compliance policy based around the principles of consistency, transparency and proportionality set out in the Government's statutory Regulators' Code.

- 8.9 Our compliance policy proposes that a graduated response is taken where offences against licensing legislation are found or where licence conditions have been contravened. An isolated and minor offence may be dealt with purely by way of a written warning whilst more serious offences which have either been committed over a period of time or which jeopardise public safety may result in a referral for prosecution.
- 8.10 We continue to work actively with other responsible authorities in enforcing licensing legislation. We share information about licence-holders and licensed premises under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and expect to be closely consulted when any enforcement action may be required.
- 8.11 As a council we have also signed up to the Hertfordshire Better Business for All Partnership Charter which is a voluntary undertaking between Hertfordshire Regulatory Services and all local businesses, irrespective of size or resources. It aims to support a relationship between businesses and regulators built upon trust, understanding and a desire to improve together in terms of compliance with regulation and support of business growth.
- 8.12 The authority's approach to the carrying out of premises licence reviews is set out in chapter 17.

PART B

PREMISES LICENCES

9. Definition of premises licences

- 9.1 Premises are defined in the Act as "any place". It is for the licensing authority to decide whether different parts of a building can be properly regarded as being separate premises and it will always be a question of fact in the circumstances. The Gambling Commission does not however consider that areas of a building that are artificially or temporarily separated can be properly regarded as different premises.
- 9.2 In considering applications for multiple licences for a building or those for a specific part of the building to be licensed, entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of different premises is not compromised and that people do not 'drift' into a gambling area.
- 9.3 This licensing authority will also pay particular attention to applications where access to the licensed premises is through other premises (which themselves may be licensed or unlicensed).
- 9.4 The licensing authority takes particular note of the Commission's guidance to be aware of the following:
 - the third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed or exploited by gambling and premises should be configured so that children are prohibited from participating in gambling, such that they are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to, or closely observe gambling
 - entrances to and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more
 premises licences should be separate and identifiable so that the
 separation of different premises is not compromised and people do not
 'drift' into a gambling area. In this context it should normally be
 possible to access the premises without going through another
 licensed premises or premises with a permit. The council would
 expect the plan of the premises to clearly denote entrances and exits.
 - customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the premises licence.
- 9.5 The licensing authority will take account of the following factors when considering whether premises are separate:
 - do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 - is the neighbouring premises owned by the same person or by someone else?
 - can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public passageway?
 - can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling premises?
- 9.6 The location of the premises and the suitability of the division (including the nature of any partitions etc) will be a matter for discussion in each case between the applicant and the licensing authority's officers.

9.7 The licensing authority notes the Commission's guidance at paragraphs 7.19 – 7.23. Where more than one premises licence is permitted within a building the gaming machine entitlement for the separately licensed premises may not be aggregated and no more than the permitted number and category of machines for the relevant type of premises may be placed in any one of the individual sets of premises within the building. Section 152, when properly applied, means that different premises licences cannot apply in respect of single premises at different times. There is no temporal element to a premises licence. Therefore, premises cannot, for example, be licensed as a bingo club on weekdays and a betting shop at weekends.

Provisional Statements

- 9.8 In terms of representations about premises licence applications, following the grant of a provisional statement, no further representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into account unless they concern matters which could not have been addressed at the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant's circumstances. In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only by reference to matters:
 - which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional licence stage; or
 - which, in the authority's opinion, reflect a change in the operator's circumstances
 - where the premises has not been constructed in accordance with the plan and information submitted with the provisional statement application. In accordance with the guidance, there must be substantial changes to the plan in order for such a decision to be made, and each decision will take into account the merits of the individual application. The council will discuss any concerns of this nature with the applicants before making a decision
- 9.9 The Guidance states that a licence to use premises for gambling should only be issued in relation to premises that the licensing authority can be satisfied are going to be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with the scale of building or alterations required before the premises are bought into use. If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, or if the applicant does not yet have a right to occupy them, then an application for a provisional statement should be made instead. In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration process:
 - first whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for gambling
 - second, whether appropriate conditions can be in place to cater for the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in which they ought to be before gambling takes place.
- 9.10 Applicants should note that this authority is entitled to decide that it is appropriate to grant a licence subject to conditions, but it is not obliged to grant

such a licence. More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be granted can be found at paragraphs 7.58 – 7.65 of the Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

Location

- 9.11 The licensing authority is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard to the location of premises but that considerations in terms of the licensing objectives can. The authority will pay particular attention to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.
- 9.12 Should any specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises should not be located, this policy statement will be updated. It should be noted that any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant showing how the concerns can be overcome. Reference should also be made to the local area risk assessment prepared by the operator.

<u>Duplication with other regulatory regimes</u>

- 9.13 This authority will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory/regulatory systems where possible, including planning. This authority will not consider whether a licence application is likely to be awarded planning or building consent, in its consideration of it. This authority will though listen to, and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions which are not able to be met by licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.
- 9.14 Under section 210 of the Act the licensing authority is not entitled to have regard to whether or not a proposal by the applicant is likely to be permitted in accordance with the law relating to planning or building. The licensing authority will however consider relevant representations from the local planning authority about the effect of the grant of a premises licence on an extant planning permission where this relates to the licensing objectives, a Commission code of practice, or this statement of principles.

Licensing objectives

9.15 The grant of a Premises licences must be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.

Conditions

- 9.16 Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will be:
 - relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling facility
 - directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for
 - fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises: and
 - reasonable in all other respects.

- 9.17 Decisions upon individual conditions will be made on a case-by-case basis, although there will be a number of control measures this licensing authority may utilise should the authority consider it necessary for the promotion of the licensing objectives, such as the use of machine and door supervisors, supervision of adult gaming machines, appropriate signage for adult-only areas, staff training etc. There are specific comments made in this regard under each of the licence types below. This licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer their own suggestions as to ways in which the licensing objectives can be met effectively.
- 9.18 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.
- 9.19 It is noted that there are conditions which the licensing authority cannot attach to premises licences:
 - any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with an operating licence condition
 - conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of operation
 - conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required
 - conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes.

Door Supervisors

- 9.20 The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance for local authorities that licensing authorities may consider whether there is a need for door supervisors in terms of the licensing objectives of protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling, and also in terms of preventing premises becoming a source of crime.
- 9.21 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door supervisors for the protection of the public. The licensing authority will make a door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate.
- 9.22 It is noted though that the Gambling Act 2005 has amended the Security Industry Act 2001 and that in-house door supervisors at casinos or bingo premises need not be licensed by the Security Industry Authority. However, the licensing authority strongly recommends that any door supervisors or security staff who are employed should be licensed by the SIA.

10. Adult Gaming Centres

- 10.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as:
 - proof of age schemes
 - CCTV
 - supervision of entrances/ machine areas
 - physical separation of areas
 - location of entry
 - notices/signage
 - specific opening hours
 - staff training
 - change machines
 - advertising sources of help and other means of help for problem gamblers

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

- 10.2 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.
- 10.3 As regards the protection of vulnerable persons, this licensing authority will consider measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

11. Licensed Family Entertainment Centres

- 11.1 This licensing authority will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming machine areas. Appropriate licence conditions may cover issues such as:
 - proof of age schemes
 - CCTV
 - door supervisors
 - supervision of entrances and/or machine areas
 - physical separation of areas
 - location of entry
 - notices / signage
 - specific opening hours
 - staff training

This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

- 11.2 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets or helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be considered in order to protect children and vulnerable persons.
- 11.3 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.

12. Casinos

12.1 The licensing authority has passed a "no casino" resolution under section 166 of the Act on 12th October 2021, to be in effect from 6 January 2022.

13. Bingo premises

- 13.1 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming and will be permitted in alcohol licensed premises and in clubs provided it remains below a certain threshold, otherwise it will be subject to a bingo operating licence which will have to be obtained from the Gambling Commission.
- 13.2 The holder of a bingo operating licence will be able to provide any type of bingo game including cash and prize bingo.
- 13.3 Commercial bingo halls will require a bingo premises licence from the licensing authority.
- 13.4 Amusement arcades providing prize bingo will require a prize gaming permit from the council.
- In each of the above cases it is important that where children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo, in whatever form, they are not allowed to participate in any bingo game, and they are only allowed to game on category D machines. When considering applications of this type the council will therefore take into account, among other things, the location of the games or machines, access to those areas, general supervision of the premises and the display of appropriate notices.
- 13.6 A limited number of gaming machines may also be made available at bingo licensed premises. Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are admitted, the licensing authority will seek to ensure that:
 - all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance
 - only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are located
 - access to the area where the machines are located is supervised
 - the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder and
 - at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.
- 13.7 The licensing authority notes that the Gambling Commission's Guidance states:
 - Licensing authorities need to satisfy themselves that bingo can be played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises licence. An operator may choose to vary their licence to exclude a previously licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new premises licence, or multiple new premises licences, with the aim of creating separate premises in that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single building or site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing authorities need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new premises.

- 18.7 Children and young people are allowed into bingo premises; however they are not permitted to participate in the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for use these must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed. Social Responsibility (SR) code 3.2.5(3) states that 'licensees must ensure that their policies and procedures take account of the structure and layout of their gambling premises' in order to prevent underage gambling.
- 18.9 The gaming machines must remain within the licensed area covered by the premises licence. In the unusual circumstance that an existing bingo premises covered by one premises licence applies to vary the licence and acquire additional bingo premises licences (so that the area that was the subject of a single licence will become divided between a number of separate licensed premises) it is not permissible for all of the gaming machines to which each of the licences brings an entitlement to be grouped together within one of the licensed premises.
- 18.10 Equipment operated by a bingo operating licence for the purpose of playing bingo, for example what are currently known as mechanised cash bingo, electronic bingo terminal (EBTs) and video bingo terminals (VBTs), will be exempt from controls on gaming machines provided they comply with any conditions set by the Commission and, in the case of EBTs, do not hold gaming machine content.
- 18.11 An EBT that offers gaming machine content in addition to bingo content is considered to be a gaming machine and would count towards the total number of gaming machines or towards the offering of bingo. Any EBTs that do not offer gaming machine content would not count towards the number of gaming machines.
- 13.8 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.
- 13.9 Operators' attention is also drawn to paragraph 18.25 18.32 concerning primary gambling activity and the location of gaming machines.

Bingo in clubs and alcohol-licensed premises

13.10 Bingo may be provided on alcohol-licensed premises and in members' clubs and miners' welfare institutes either in accordance with a permit or providing that the limits in section 275 of the Act are complied with. These restrictions limit the aggregate stake or prizes within any seven days to £2000, and require the Commission to be notified as soon as is reasonably practicable if that limit is breached. Stakes or prizes above that limit will require a bingo operator's licence and the corresponding personal and premises licences.

14. Betting premises

- 14.1 Anyone wishing to operate a betting office will require a betting premises licence from the licensing authority. Children and young persons will not be able to enter premises with a betting premises licence.
- 14.2 The authority recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises within its area. In order to ensure that any compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest stage, operators are requested to give the authority a single named point of contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the authority will contact first should any compliance gueries or issues arise.
- 14.3 There is no evidence that the operation of betting offices has required door supervisors for the protection of the public. The Authority will make a door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate.
- 14.4 Betting premises will be able to provide a limited number of gaming machines and some betting machines.
- 14.5 The licensing authority has the power to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available. We will take into account the size of the premises, the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people. It will not generally exercise this power though unless there are good reasons to do so taking into account, among other things, the size of the premises and the level of management and supervision especially where vulnerable people are concerned.
- 14.6 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.
- 14.7 Each application will be considered on its own individual merits.

Primary Gambling Activity

- 14.8 Operating licences issued by the Commission provide that gaming machines may be made available for use in licensed betting premises in combination with the named activity on the operating licence.
- 14.9 The licensing authority must be satisfied that the a premises applying for a premises licence to permit betting, or a premises which is already licensed to provide betting, is or will operate in a manner which a customer would reasonably expect to recognise as a premises licensed for the purposes of providing facilities for betting. In this respect, the authority would expect such facilities to include information that enables customers to access details of events on which bets can be made, make such bets, learn the outcome and

- collect any winnings. Where betting facilities are provided only by betting machines the number of betting machines must exceed the number of gaming machines made available for use.
- 14.10 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) sets out the full requirements on operators. To assist operators of betting premises the Commission has published a document setting out the indicators that are used to assess as to whether the requirements for betting being the primary gambling activity in any particular premises are being met.
- 14.11 Should the licensing authority receive an application to vary a premises licence for bingo or betting in order to extend the opening hours, the authority will satisfy itself that the reason for the application is in line with the requirements on primary gambling activity. (i.e. the need for operating licence holders to ensure that there are still sufficient facilities available to participate in the gambling activity appropriate to the licence type ('the primary activity' or 'the principal activity') at those premises and not replaced by the making available of gaming machines). Therefore, the applicant should be able to demonstrate that the extension of the opening hours is not designed solely to benefit from the machine entitlement and activity which is ancillary to the primary activity of the premises, namely betting or bingo.

15. Tracks

- 15.1 Only one premises licence can be issued for any particular premises at any time unless the premises is a 'track'. A track is a site where races or other sporting events take place.
- 15.2 Track operators are not required to hold an 'operators licence' granted by the Gambling Commission. Therefore, premises licences for tracks, issued by the council are likely to contain requirements for premises licence holders about their responsibilities in relation to the proper conduct of betting. Indeed, track operators will have an important role to play, for example in ensuring that betting areas are properly administered and supervised.
- 15.3 There may be a number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling activities to take place for specific parts of the premises. Unlike betting offices, a betting premises licence in respect of a track does not give an automatic entitlement to use gaming machines.
- 15.4 When considering whether to exercise its power to restrict the number of betting machines at a track the licensing authority will consider the circumstances of each individual application and, among other things will consider the potential space for the number of machines requested, the ability of track staff to supervise the machines, especially if they are scattered around the site, and the ability of the track operator to prevent children and young persons and vulnerable people betting on the machines.
- This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission may provide further specific guidance as regards tracks. We have taken note of the Guidance from the Gambling Commission which highlights that tracks are different from other premises in that there may be more than one premises licence in effect and that the track operator may not be required to hold an operator licence as there may be several premises licence holders at the track which will need to hold their own operator licences.
- 15.6 There may be some specific considerations with regard to the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling and this authority would expect the premises licence applicants to demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, although they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are provided.
- 15.7 Appropriate licence conditions may be:
 - proof of age schemes
 - CCTV
 - supervision of entrances/machine areas
 - physical separation of areas
 - location of entry
 - notices/signage
 - specific opening hours
 - the location of gaming machines

- This list is not mandatory or exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.
- 15.8 Measures such as the use of self-barring schemes, provision of information leaflets and helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare will be considered suitable in relation to the protection of children and vulnerable people.
- 15.9 The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any mandatory conditions imposed on their premises licence through regulations made by the Secretary of State. The licensing authority will expect applicants to be able to comply with any default conditions similarly imposed. Applicants seeking to remove or amend default conditions must demonstrate that there will be little or no risk to the licensing objectives or the licensing authority's statement of principles by removing the default conditions.
- 15.10 This licensing authority would prefer for all self-contained premises operated by off-course betting operators on tracks to be the subject of separate premises licences. This would ensure that there was clarity between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises.

Betting machines at tracks

15.11 Licensing authorities have a power under the Gambling Act 2005 to restrict the number of betting machines, their nature and the circumstances in which they are made available, by attaching a licence condition to a betting premises licence.

Condition on rules being displayed

15.12 It is a mandatory condition of premises licence that clear and accessible information about the terms on which a bet may be placed must be displayed at betting premises, including tracks. The licensing authority will adopt the approach in line with guidance from the Gambling Commission that it may be disproportionate and unnecessary to display betting rules at each distinct betting location. The licensing authority will expect betting rules to be accessible to all customers, regardless of which area of the track they are in, and the track premises licence holder should make necessary arrangements to ensure to achieve this aim. This could include displaying rules at various parts of the track if certain areas are restricted to specific customers, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public, such as being could printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office.

16. Travelling Fairs

- 16.1 It will fall to the licensing authority to decide whether, where category D machines and/or equal chance prize gaming without a permit is to be made available for use at travelling fairs, the statutory requirement that the facilities for gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair is met.
- 16.2 The licensing authority will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory definition of a travelling fair.

17. Review of Premises Licences

- 17.1 Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties or responsible authorities.
- 17.2 However, it is for the licensing authority to decide whether to accept any application for review of a licence, after considering whether the application is:
 - frivolous, vexatious, will certainly not cause this authority to wish to alter/revoke/suspend the licence, or substantially the same as previous representations or requests for review;
 - in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling Commission;
 - in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission;
 - reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and
 - in accordance with the authority's statement of principles.
- 17.3 In the interest of fairness, responsible authorities (including the licensing authority) are encouraged to give an early warning of concerns about problems identified at premises concerned and of the need for improvement, although it is recognised this is not always practicable or desirable. It is expected that a failure to respond to such warnings would lead to a decision to apply for a review.
- 17.4 Any enforcement action taken by the licensing authority, including considering a review, will be undertaken in accordance with our compliance policy.
- 17.3 Licensing authority officers may be involved in the initial investigations of complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute resolution before a full review is conducted.
- 17.4 The licensing authority may review premises licences of its own volition on the basis of any reason which it thinks is appropriate. This may be on the grounds that a premises licence holder has not provided facilities for gambling at the premises. This can extend to a review of a class of licences where it considers particular issues have arisen.
- 17.5 The purpose of a review is to determine whether the licensing authority should take any action in relation to the licence. If action is justified the licensing authority may:
 - add, remove or amend a licence condition (other than a mandatory condition)
 - exclude or amend a default condition imposed by regulations
 - suspend the premises licence for a period not exceeding three months
 - revoke the premises licence.
- 17.6 In determining the appropriate course of action the licensing authority must have regard to the principles set out in section 153 of the Act as well as any relevant representations.

17.7	to amend, refuse, suspend or revoke a licence. In every case, an evidentiary basis for the review will need to be laid before the licensing authority.

PART C

PERMITS, TEMPORARY AND OCCASIONAL USE NOTICES

18. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits

- 18.1 Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide category D machines only gaming machines, it may apply to the licensing authority for this permit. It should be noted that under section 238 the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for making gaming machines available for use. If they are also used for other purposes the application is likely to be refused.
- 18.2 The Act states that a licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles that they propose to consider in determining the suitability of an applicant for a permit. In preparing that statement, and/or considering applications, it need not (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives and shall have regard to any relevant guidance issued by the Commission under section 25 of the Act.
- 18.3 Accordingly this licensing authority will also have regard to the licensing objectives when considering applications relating to unlicensed FEC permits.
- 18.4 An FEC gaming machine permit cannot be granted unless the chief officer of Police has been consulted, and no conditions may be imposed upon the grant of a permit. Therefore the licensing authority will wish to be satisfied as to the applicant's suitability before granting a permit. Unlicensed FECs, by definition, will not be subject to scrutiny by the Gambling Commission as no operating (or other) licences will be applied for and issued.

Statement of principles

- Applicants will be expected to show that there are policies and procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations. The efficiency of such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they may include background checks on staff, training for staff in dealing with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems on or around the premises.
- 18.6 Applicants will be expected to demonstrate:
 - a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs
 - that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 of the Act)
 - that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes; and
 - an awareness of local school holiday times and how to identify to the local education authority should truants be identified.
- 18.7 Compliance with any relevant industry Code of Practice for FECs issued by BACTA or other trade associations may be taken by the licensing authority as

- evidence that (apart from the criteria relating to criminal convictions) the applicant has met the above.
- 18.8 Applicants must submit with their application a copy of a plan of the premises, to a scale of 1:100, showing the exits/entrances to the premises, location of gaming machines, and the location of safety equipment such as fire extinguishers.
- 18.9 The licensing authority may refuse an application for <u>renewal</u> of a permit only on the grounds that an authorised local authority officer has been refused access to the premises without reasonable excuse, or that renewal would not be reasonably consistent with pursuit of the licensing objectives.

19. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits

- 19.1 There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises, to automatically have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D. The premises merely need to notify the licensing authority. The notification process is prescribed under the Gambling Act.
- 19.2 Under section 284 the licensing authority can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular premises if:
 - provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the licensing objectives
 - gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the Gambling Act (for example the gaming machines have been made available in a way that does not comply with requirements on the location and operation of gaming machines)
 - the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 - an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises.
- 19.3 Should it be necessary to issue a section 284 order, the licence-holder will be given at least twenty-one days' notice of the intention to make the order, and consider any representations which might be made. The authority will hold a hearing if the licensee requests.
- 19.4 If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for a permit and the licensing authority must consider that application based upon the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and "such matters as they think relevant."

Statement of principles

- 19.5 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not use the adult-only gaming machines. The authority will take into account whether access by children to the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.
- 19.6 Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access may include the adult machines being in site of the bar, or in the sight of staff that will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18. Notices and signage may also be help. As regards the protection of vulnerable persons applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.
- 19.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of gambling machines are to be provided. This plan may take the form of an amendment to the plan attached to the premises licence issued under the Licensing Act 2003.

- 19.8 It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas. Any such application would need to be applied for, and dealt with, as an application for a new premises licence.
- 19.9 It should be noted that the licensing authority can decide to grant the application with a smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.
- 19.10 It should also be noted that the holder of a permit to must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine.

Administrative matters

- 19.11 Notifications and applications for fewer than five machines shall be dealt with by the licensing authority's officers.
- 19.12 Applications for five or more machines will be referred to a licensing subcommittee of councillors, unless there are no representations and officers are satisfied that the licensing objectives will be promoted. In these situations notifications and applications will be dealt with by the licensing authority's officers.

20. Prize Gaming Permits

- 20.1 The licensing authority may prepare a statement of principles which they propose to apply in exercising their functions which may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing authority propose to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit.
- 20.2 Prize gaming may be provided in bingo premises as a consequence of their bingo operating licence. Any type of prize gaming may be provided in adult gaming centres and licensed family entertainment centres. Unlicensed family entertainment centres may offer equal chance prize gaming under a gaming machine permit. Prize gaming without a permit may be provided by travelling fairs, providing that none of the gambling facilities at the fair amount to more than an ancillary amusement. Children and young people may participate in equal chance gaming only.
- 20.3 In making its decision on an application for this permit the licensing authority does not need to have regard to the licensing objectives, but may wish to do so, but must have regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.

Applicants should set out the types of gaming they are intending to offer and should be able to demonstrate:

- that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations
- and that the gaming offered is within the law.
- 20.4 The licensing authority cannot attach conditions to a permit.
- 20.5 Applications may only be made by people who occupy or plan to occupy the premises, are aged 18 or over (if an individual), and no premises licence or club gaming permit under the Gambling Act 2005 may be in force.

Statement of principles

- 20.6 This licensing authority considers that such matters will be decided on a case by case basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to ensure that under-18 year olds do not have access to unequal chances prize gaming. The authority will take into account whether access by children to the premises under the Licensing Act 2003 is restricted or not.
- 20.7 A plan must accompany applications indicating where, and what type, of prize gaming is to be provided.

21. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

- 21.1 Members' clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club gaming permit or a clubs gaming machines permit.
- 21.2 The licensing authority notes paragraphs 25.44 25.49 of the Commission's Guidance as to matters to take into account when determining that a club meets the statutory qualifying requirements. These include the club's constitution; the frequency of gaming; and ensuring that there are more than 25 members. The club must be conducted "wholly or mainly" for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is in bridge and whist clubs covered by regulations made by the Secretary of State.
- 21.3 The licensing authority may only refuse an application on the grounds that:
 - the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members' or commercial club or miners' welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied the applicant's premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons
 - an offence under the Act or a breach of the permit has been committed by the applicant whilst providing gaming facilities
 - a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or
 - an objection has been raised by the Commission or by the Police.

Club gaming permit

- 21.4 A club gaming permit allows the premises to provide
 - up to three machines of categories B, C or D
 - equal chance gaming and
 - games of chance as set out in regulations.

Club gaming machine permit

- 21.5 A club gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide up to three machines of categories B, C or D.
- 21.6 The licensing authority will wish to be satisfied that applicants for these permits meet the statutory criteria for members' clubs contained in sections 266 and 267 of the Act. Clubs which hold a club premises certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 are entitled to benefit from a fast-track application procedure.

22. Temporary Use Notices

22.1 Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission would include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues.

The licensing authority can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a person or company holding a relevant operating licence i.e. a non-remote casino operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this statement the relevant regulations (SI no 3157: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) Regulations 2007) state that temporary use notices may only be used to permit the provision of facilities for equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended to produce a single overall winner. There can, however, be more than one competition with a single winner held at the individual event covered by a specific temporary use notice. The facilities may not be provided in circumstances where any person participating in the gaming does so by means of a gaming machine. Equal chance gaming is gaming which does not involve playing or staking against a bank and gives equally favourable chances to all participants. Examples of equal chance gaming include games such as backgammon, mah-jong, rummy, kalooki, dominoes, cribbage, bingo and poker.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. The meaning of "premises" in Part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities and at paragraphs 14.10-14.13 of the Guidance. As with "premises", the definition of a "set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular circumstances of each notice that is given. In the Act "premises" is defined as including "any place". In considering whether a place falls with the definition of a "set of premises", the licensing authority need to look at, amongst other things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises.

This licensing authority expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect would be to permit regular gambling in place that could be described as one set of premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission's Guidance to Licensing Authorities.

23. Occasional Use Notices

23.1 The licensing authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded. The licensing authority will though need to consider the definition of a 'track' and whether the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.

24. Small Society Lotteries

- 24.1 The licensing authority will adopt a risk-based approach towards its enforcement responsibilities for small society lotteries. This authority considers that the following list, although not exhaustive, could affect the risk status of an operator:
 - submission of late returns (returns must be submitted within three months of the date that a lottery was drawn)
 - submission of incomplete or incorrect forms
 - breaches of the limits for small society lotteries.

Should you have any comments as regards this document please send them via e-mail or letter to:

Austen Young
Licensing Team
Community Protection
Watford Borough Council
Town Hall
Watford
Hertfordshire
WD17 3EX

Email: <u>licensing@watford.gov.uk</u>

1. Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board

From: Jean Banks On Behalf Of Admin HSCP

Sent: 16 July 2021 09:51 To: Austen Young

Subject: RE: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles Consultation - Watford Borough

Council

Thank you for your email

Jean Banks **Senior Support Officer**

Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board

2. Hertfordshire Constabulary

From: TOMKINS, Jo 8690 **Sent:** 16 July 2021 11:01

To: Austen Young

Cc: MITCHELL, Luke 1162 R Western Licensing

Subject: RE: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles Consultation - Watford Borough

Council

Hi Austen,

No comments to add thank you.

Kind regards,

Jo

3. Watford Environmental Health

From: Richard Brown **Sent:** 21 July 2021 15:59

To: Austen Young

Subject: FW: Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Principles Consultation - Watford Borough Council

Hello Austen,

No comments from Watford Environmental Health.

Regards

Richard

Richard Brown Environmental Health Manager (Business)

Community Protection Watford Borough Council Town Hall, Watford, WD17 3EX